
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE COMMITTEE MINUTES (EDZC) 
MONDAY, JANUARY 25, 2016  10:00 A.M. 

CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 
 

PRESENT:  Terry Torres, Chairman;  Members: Jessica Hawkins and Garry Rooney  Also Present:   Tim 
McGarry, Planning and Development Director and Tammy Vock, City Clerk 
 
Excused Absence:  Mr. Scott Chisholm 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mr. Torres called today’s meeting to order at 10:02 a.m.   He said at their meeting next month they will 
have Election of Officers. 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A) October 19, 2015  
 
Mrs. Hawkins made a motion to adopt the October 19, 2016 minutes.  Mr. Rooney seconded the motion 
and it passed unanimously. 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 
None 
 
5. OLD BUSINESS 
 
A) Discuss Updated Action Plan and Revised Boundaries 
 
Mr. Torres reported that at today’s meeting they will prioritize the list of items on their Action Plan in 
order to take it to Council in March.  He referred to their list date on July 20, 2015.  He said that A-1) and 
A-2) were taken off the list because they dealt with shuttle services.  A-3) then became A-1), which is the 
banner program.  The Committee agreed to take the banner program off of their list because this is 
being handled by other organizations.  Item A-1) was maps and signage.  The projected cost for each 
sign was $3,995.00.  The sign would be three (3) sided and displayed in seven (7) different locations.   
They would have all the points of interest in the City of Vero Beach displayed on these signs.  He said 
maybe they could have a photo of the sign so Council would know what it is going to look like.  Item A-2) 
would be the painted walking trail designated by an emblem.  The cost for each emblem will be $5.00.  
Mr. Chisholm has prepared a map so maybe they could use that map and just make needed changes to 
it.  They need to determine where the initial trail will be.   Item A-3) would be the time adjustment for 
signal crossings in order for pedestrians to be able to cross the street before the light changes.  This 
would include the crossings on Route 60.  The particular crossing being the one located at 14th Avenue.   
Mr. Torres was given some information when he was in Tallahassee.   He was told that when you are 
watching the pedestrian count down there is actually a few more seconds given in order for someone to 

Page 1  ECZC 01/25/16 
 



cross the street.  He felt if the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) would allow them eight (8) 
to 10 more seconds that would help.  Mr. Chris Mora, County Engineer, has told them that if they start 
tampering with a specific crossing then it could lead to tampering of other crosswalks.  The Committee 
still felt that this was a safety concern and wished to have it on their list.  They couldn’t imagine a 
mother with children or elderly people being able to get across the street in the time given now.  This is 
an item that will not cost anything to have implemented.   
 
Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director, suggested that a member of the Committee 
attend a CAC/MPO meeting and ask for this request.   Mr. Rooney volunteered to attend the meeting.  
Mr. McGarry said that he would come up with some talking points for Mr. Rooney to discuss at the 
meeting. 
 
Mr. Rooney asked how many accidents have occurred at that intersection.  Mr. McGarry said he will get 
that information for the Committee.   Mr. Rooney wondered if there was any way to slow traffic down 
when someone gets to that intersection. 
 
Mr. Torres expressed that they just need to be persistent in getting this done. 
 
Mr. Torres continued with item A-4), which is landscaping.  He felt that the City does an excellent job 
with landscaping and they could probably delete this item from their list.   
 
Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager, commented that the City cannot take credit for the landscaping.  He 
said that Mainstreet is to be commended for the landscaping downtown.   
 
Mr. Torres agreed.  He said that the planters are a project of Mainstreet and their Design Committee, 
led by Mrs. Robin Pelensky.   He said since the City installed the irrigation for the planters the plants are 
now living.  He suggested eliminating this item from their list and allowing Mainstreet to continue 
handling the landscaping. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins suggested rewording the item.  She said once the repaving/resurfacing of State Road 60 is 
completed there will need to be some new landscaping installed.  The Committee agreed this would be 
a long term project.  They added this item to C-2), which was to combine this with the landscaping 
portion of the traffic calming project that has already been approved.    
 
Mayor Jay Kramer added that this Committee may want to work with the Tree and Beautification 
Commission in getting some of these projects completed. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins suggested maybe they could have the Chairman of the Tree and Beautification 
Commission attend one of their meetings to give an update on what some of his ideas are. 
 
Mr. Torres agreed with having the Chairman of the Tree and Beautification Commission come to one of 
their meetings and they could provide him with some renderings on what their thoughts were. 
 
Mayor Kramer knew that the Tree and Beautification Commission was looking at restoring canopies 
throughout the whole City.  
 

Page 2  ECZC 01/25/16 
 



Mr. McGarry reminded the Committee that in their discussions they needed to keep in mind the plans 
for the Cultural Arts Village.  He also said that there is a tree replacement fund and there is money 
available to replant trees in this area. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins commented that the actual landscaping for State Road 60 and the traffic calming needed 
to be addressed at a later date.  At that time they could coordinate with the Tree and Beautification 
Commission and maybe they could tap into the tree replacement fund to help pay for these trees. 
 
Mr. Torres stated that the next item was A-8), which is Public Safety.  He said that the Police 
Department has purchased two bicycles to be used in the downtown area.  He wondered if this item 
should be eliminated since this has been accomplished. 
 
Mr. Rooney felt that they needed to keep this item on their list.  He said that police presence in 
downtown is so important.  He said they could have this as item A-8), but there would be no monetary 
expense in having it on their list.   Mr. McGarry pointed out that the two bicycles the police department 
purchased cost $1,500 each. 
 
Mr. Torres brought up item A-9), which is the alleyway between the Twin Pairs.  Mrs. Hawkins said that 
most of the work in the alleyways has been done.  Her big concern was the lack of lighting in these 
parking lots.  She said at night they are very dark.   
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that the City does not provide lighting for alleyways.  He said if there is a 
business that would like a particular alleyway lit then they would have to pay for it.   However, the City 
will handle the lighting of City parking lots.  The Committee had some concerns with the parking lot in 
back of the building where Dale Sorenson’s business is located.  Mr. McGarry said that he will find out if 
that is a City owned parking lot or not.  Mr. O’Connor said if it is a City owned parking lot then he would 
look into having lights put in.  If a business would like to have lights installed in an alleyway they could 
do so and the fee is very nominal. 
 
The Committee agreed that item A-5) would be alleyway lighting improvements and they would pay for 
the costs to have these alleyways lit. 
 
Mr. Torres moved on to items in B), which are two to three year projects scheduled down the road.   The 
first item was having additional bus stops in the downtown area.  Mr. McGarry explained that GoLine 
was restructuring their routes to include additional stops.   Mr. Torres agreed to leaving this on their list.  
They want to encourage more stops downtown.   Item B-2) was special theme lighting.  The cost for 
each one of these lights will be $7,500.  If they chose to do the lights and paid a rental fee of $20.00 per 
month to the City it would be cheaper in the long run because the City would handle the maintenance of 
the lights.  Mr. McGarry expressed this is something that the Committee will need to coordinate with 
the Cultural Council because they are also looking at decorative lighting.   Item B-3) is alleyway 
improvements between the Twin Pairs (between 16th Avenue and 20th Avenue).  The Committee felt this 
might be a little redundant since it has already been address in A-5).   They agreed that item B-3) would 
be paving improvements between 14th  Avenue and 20th Avenue.     
 
Mr. Torres asked Mr. O’Connor if the City handles taking care of the repaving of alleyways.  Mr. 
O’Connor answered yes.  Mr. Torres agreed with leaving this project as item B-3), without a dollar 
amount attached to it. 
 

Page 3  ECZC 01/25/16 
 



Mr. Torres brought up item B-4), which was the sidewalk widening project.  He asked if a merchant, at 
their own expense, could widen their own sidewalk.  Mr. McGarry answered yes.  He said the merchant 
would need a license agreement and permit in order to do that.  This item will remain on the list. 
 
Mr. Torres said that item B-5) was paver crosswalk.  Mrs. Hawkins noted that using the stamp when 
repaving is the best idea.  She said it was done on State Road 60 and she has been told stamped paving  
will last longer.  The stamp is a minimum cost to do.  The Committee renamed this item stamp 
crosswalk.  The locations where this will be done will need to be determined.   
 
Mrs. Hawkins asked Mr. McGarry if there were any plans on remilling and surfacing any roads at this 
time (item C-1).  Mr. McGarry did not know, but said he would find out from the Public Works Director. 
 
The Committee agreed to leave item C-2) on the list.   
 
Item C-3) was the Bandshell at the Heritage Center.  The Committee agreed to leave it in without an 
amount attached to it.  They knew that the Press Journal was interested in contributing for the new 
Bandshell. 
 
Item C-4) was art displays and green space.   The Committee agreed this was more of the purview of the 
Art District, but the Committee supported it. 
 
Mr. Torres asked Mrs. Vock to come up with a completed list and distribute it to the Committee. 
 
Mr. Rooney asked what is the process to ask the community to help sponsor some of these items in 
order to generate funds. 
 
Mr. Torres said they need to enlist the support of the businesses and he thought the businesses would 
participate.  He said that local business support was very important.  There is a list of all the businesses 
within the Economic Development Zone and they could solicit those businesses.  He said they could 
send a letter out to all of the businesses.  There are approximately 500 businesses located within the 
boundary.   
 
Mr. McGarry suggested before the Committee does anything that they get their plan approved by the 
City Council.  Then if they wanted to solicit money from the local businesses they would need to check 
with the Finance Director on how they should handle it.  He knew that any money they received would 
have to be for a specific item.   
 
Mrs. Rosemarie Wilson asked if this Committee was going to give any recommendations on what they 
would like to see happen to the old Diesel Plant.  Mr. Torres explained to Mrs. Wilson that was out of 
the purview of this Committee’s responsibilities.  He then gave a recap on what was discussed at today’s 
meeting. 
 
  6. NEXT MEETING DATE 
 
The next meeting date will be February 15, 2016. 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Page 4  ECZC 01/25/16 
 



Today’s meeting adjourned at 11:04 a.m. 
 
/tv  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5  ECZC 01/25/16 
 


	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE COMMITTEE MINUTES (EDZC)
	MONDAY, JANUARY 25, 2016  10:00 A.M.
	CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA
	PRESENT:  Terry Torres, Chairman;  Members: Jessica Hawkins and Garry Rooney  Also Present:   Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director and Tammy Vock, City Clerk
	Excused Absence:  Mr. Scott Chisholm
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	Mr. Torres called today’s meeting to order at 10:02 a.m.   He said at their meeting next month they will have Election of Officers.
	2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A) October 19, 2015 
	Mrs. Hawkins made a motion to adopt the October 19, 2016 minutes.  Mr. Rooney seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	None
	4. NEW BUSINESS
	None
	5. OLD BUSINESS
	A) Discuss Updated Action Plan and Revised Boundaries
	Mr. Torres reported that at today’s meeting they will prioritize the list of items on their Action Plan in order to take it to Council in March.  He referred to their list date on July 20, 2015.  He said that A-1) and A-2) were taken off the list because they dealt with shuttle services.  A-3) then became A-1), which is the banner program.  The Committee agreed to take the banner program off of their list because this is being handled by other organizations.  Item A-1) was maps and signage.  The projected cost for each sign was $3,995.00.  The sign would be three (3) sided and displayed in seven (7) different locations.   They would have all the points of interest in the City of Vero Beach displayed on these signs.  He said maybe they could have a photo of the sign so Council would know what it is going to look like.  Item A-2) would be the painted walking trail designated by an emblem.  The cost for each emblem will be $5.00.  Mr. Chisholm has prepared a map so maybe they could use that map and just make needed changes to it.  They need to determine where the initial trail will be.   Item A-3) would be the time adjustment for signal crossings in order for pedestrians to be able to cross the street before the light changes.  This would include the crossings on Route 60.  The particular crossing being the one located at 14th Avenue.   Mr. Torres was given some information when he was in Tallahassee.   He was told that when you are watching the pedestrian count down there is actually a few more seconds given in order for someone to cross the street.  He felt if the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) would allow them eight (8) to 10 more seconds that would help.  Mr. Chris Mora, County Engineer, has told them that if they start tampering with a specific crossing then it could lead to tampering of other crosswalks.  The Committee still felt that this was a safety concern and wished to have it on their list.  They couldn’t imagine a mother with children or elderly people being able to get across the street in the time given now.  This is an item that will not cost anything to have implemented.  
	Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director, suggested that a member of the Committee attend a CAC/MPO meeting and ask for this request.   Mr. Rooney volunteered to attend the meeting.  Mr. McGarry said that he would come up with some talking points for Mr. Rooney to discuss at the meeting.
	Mr. Rooney asked how many accidents have occurred at that intersection.  Mr. McGarry said he will get that information for the Committee.   Mr. Rooney wondered if there was any way to slow traffic down when someone gets to that intersection.
	Mr. Torres expressed that they just need to be persistent in getting this done.
	Mr. Torres continued with item A-4), which is landscaping.  He felt that the City does an excellent job with landscaping and they could probably delete this item from their list.  
	Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager, commented that the City cannot take credit for the landscaping.  He said that Mainstreet is to be commended for the landscaping downtown.  
	Mr. Torres agreed.  He said that the planters are a project of Mainstreet and their Design Committee, led by Mrs. Robin Pelensky.   He said since the City installed the irrigation for the planters the plants are now living.  He suggested eliminating this item from their list and allowing Mainstreet to continue handling the landscaping.
	Mrs. Hawkins suggested rewording the item.  She said once the repaving/resurfacing of State Road 60 is completed there will need to be some new landscaping installed.  The Committee agreed this would be a long term project.  They added this item to C-2), which was to combine this with the landscaping portion of the traffic calming project that has already been approved.   
	Mayor Jay Kramer added that this Committee may want to work with the Tree and Beautification Commission in getting some of these projects completed.
	Mrs. Hawkins suggested maybe they could have the Chairman of the Tree and Beautification Commission attend one of their meetings to give an update on what some of his ideas are.
	Mr. Torres agreed with having the Chairman of the Tree and Beautification Commission come to one of their meetings and they could provide him with some renderings on what their thoughts were.
	Mayor Kramer knew that the Tree and Beautification Commission was looking at restoring canopies throughout the whole City. 
	Mr. McGarry reminded the Committee that in their discussions they needed to keep in mind the plans for the Cultural Arts Village.  He also said that there is a tree replacement fund and there is money available to replant trees in this area.
	Mrs. Hawkins commented that the actual landscaping for State Road 60 and the traffic calming needed to be addressed at a later date.  At that time they could coordinate with the Tree and Beautification Commission and maybe they could tap into the tree replacement fund to help pay for these trees.
	Mr. Torres stated that the next item was A-8), which is Public Safety.  He said that the Police Department has purchased two bicycles to be used in the downtown area.  He wondered if this item should be eliminated since this has been accomplished.
	Mr. Rooney felt that they needed to keep this item on their list.  He said that police presence in downtown is so important.  He said they could have this as item A-8), but there would be no monetary expense in having it on their list.   Mr. McGarry pointed out that the two bicycles the police department purchased cost $1,500 each.
	Mr. Torres brought up item A-9), which is the alleyway between the Twin Pairs.  Mrs. Hawkins said that most of the work in the alleyways has been done.  Her big concern was the lack of lighting in these parking lots.  She said at night they are very dark.  
	Mr. O’Connor explained that the City does not provide lighting for alleyways.  He said if there is a business that would like a particular alleyway lit then they would have to pay for it.   However, the City will handle the lighting of City parking lots.  The Committee had some concerns with the parking lot in back of the building where Dale Sorenson’s business is located.  Mr. McGarry said that he will find out if that is a City owned parking lot or not.  Mr. O’Connor said if it is a City owned parking lot then he would look into having lights put in.  If a business would like to have lights installed in an alleyway they could do so and the fee is very nominal.
	The Committee agreed that item A-5) would be alleyway lighting improvements and they would pay for the costs to have these alleyways lit.
	Mr. Torres moved on to items in B), which are two to three year projects scheduled down the road.   The first item was having additional bus stops in the downtown area.  Mr. McGarry explained that GoLine was restructuring their routes to include additional stops.   Mr. Torres agreed to leaving this on their list.  They want to encourage more stops downtown.   Item B-2) was special theme lighting.  The cost for each one of these lights will be $7,500.  If they chose to do the lights and paid a rental fee of $20.00 per month to the City it would be cheaper in the long run because the City would handle the maintenance of the lights.  Mr. McGarry expressed this is something that the Committee will need to coordinate with the Cultural Council because they are also looking at decorative lighting.   Item B-3) is alleyway improvements between the Twin Pairs (between 16th Avenue and 20th Avenue).  The Committee felt this might be a little redundant since it has already been address in A-5).   They agreed that item B-3) would be paving improvements between 14th  Avenue and 20th Avenue.    
	Mr. Torres asked Mr. O’Connor if the City handles taking care of the repaving of alleyways.  Mr. O’Connor answered yes.  Mr. Torres agreed with leaving this project as item B-3), without a dollar amount attached to it.
	Mr. Torres brought up item B-4), which was the sidewalk widening project.  He asked if a merchant, at their own expense, could widen their own sidewalk.  Mr. McGarry answered yes.  He said the merchant would need a license agreement and permit in order to do that.  This item will remain on the list.
	Mr. Torres said that item B-5) was paver crosswalk.  Mrs. Hawkins noted that using the stamp when repaving is the best idea.  She said it was done on State Road 60 and she has been told stamped paving  will last longer.  The stamp is a minimum cost to do.  The Committee renamed this item stamp crosswalk.  The locations where this will be done will need to be determined.  
	Mrs. Hawkins asked Mr. McGarry if there were any plans on remilling and surfacing any roads at this time (item C-1).  Mr. McGarry did not know, but said he would find out from the Public Works Director.
	The Committee agreed to leave item C-2) on the list.  
	Item C-3) was the Bandshell at the Heritage Center.  The Committee agreed to leave it in without an amount attached to it.  They knew that the Press Journal was interested in contributing for the new Bandshell.
	Item C-4) was art displays and green space.   The Committee agreed this was more of the purview of the Art District, but the Committee supported it.
	Mr. Torres asked Mrs. Vock to come up with a completed list and distribute it to the Committee.
	Mr. Rooney asked what is the process to ask the community to help sponsor some of these items in order to generate funds.
	Mr. Torres said they need to enlist the support of the businesses and he thought the businesses would participate.  He said that local business support was very important.  There is a list of all the businesses within the Economic Development Zone and they could solicit those businesses.  He said they could send a letter out to all of the businesses.  There are approximately 500 businesses located within the boundary.  
	Mr. McGarry suggested before the Committee does anything that they get their plan approved by the City Council.  Then if they wanted to solicit money from the local businesses they would need to check with the Finance Director on how they should handle it.  He knew that any money they received would have to be for a specific item.  
	Mrs. Rosemarie Wilson asked if this Committee was going to give any recommendations on what they would like to see happen to the old Diesel Plant.  Mr. Torres explained to Mrs. Wilson that was out of the purview of this Committee’s responsibilities.  He then gave a recap on what was discussed at today’s meeting.
	  6. NEXT MEETING DATE
	The next meeting date will be February 15, 2016.
	7. ADJOURNMENT
	Today’s meeting adjourned at 11:04 a.m.
	/tv 


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


